IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Case No.	SC01-1298 and
		SC02-1118
	TFB No.	1998-11,287(13C)
Complainant,		2000-11,485(13C)
		2001-11,428(13C)
VS.		2001-11,655(13C)
		2002-10,208(13C)
JAMES MANUEL HEPTNER		2001-11,791(13C)

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

William Lance Thompson Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 5521 W. Spruce Street, Suite C-49 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 0051349

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By Order of this Court dated March 29, 2001, in Florida Bar v. James Manuel Heptner, Supreme Court Cases Nos. SC00-920 and SC00-2570, Respondent was suspended from the practice of law for 60 days, effective 30 days from the date of the Order. (TFB Exh. 1). On June 13, 2001, The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Order to Show Cause why Respondent should not be held in contempt and suspended from the practice of law, or disbarred, for practicing law while under an Order of Suspension. On October 18, 2001, the Bar filed an Amendment to the Petition for Order to Show Cause to include information not known at the time the initial Petition was filed. The Bar alleged additional facts concerning Respondent's arrest on August 6, 2001, for soliciting the purchase of cocaine from a client on two occasions, including during his suspension. By Order dated March 13, 2002, the Honorable Peter Ramsberger, Circuit Court Judge for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, was appointed as Referee in the case.

On May 10, 2002, The Florida Bar filed a five-count Complaint in <u>Florida Bar v. James Manuel Heptner</u>, Supreme Court Case No. SC02-1118. By Order dated June 6, 2002, the Honorable Peter Ramsberger, was appointed as Referee in that case. On July 3, 2002, this Court entered an Order in <u>Florida Bar v. James Manuel</u> <u>Heptner</u>, Supreme Court Case No. SC01-1744, suspending Respondent for 91 days to be followed by two years probation. Case No. SC01-1744 is not a part of this appeal except as it relates to Respondent's disciplinary history.

On July 18, 2002, the Referee entered an Order consolidating The Florida Bar's Petition for Order To Show Cause, SC01-1298, and The Florida Bar's Complaint, SC02-1118. A pretrial hearing on the two consolidated matters was held on August 21, 2002. At that time, a request for additional time to submit the final referee's report was submitted due to the consolidation of the two matters. On August 29, 2002, this Court entered an Order granting the request and extending the date for filing the referee's report until December 20, 2002. A final hearing was scheduled for October 22 and 23, 2002. On October 15, 2002, the Bar filed its Motion to Continue Final Hearing, which was granted. At that time, a second request for additional time to file the referee's report was submitted and granted by this Court on November 26, 2002.

A final hearing was set for April 4, 2003. William L. Walent, a witness who had been subpoenaed by The Florida Bar failed to appear and give testimony at the final hearing on April 4, 2003. On April 4, 2003, the Referee submitted a third request for an extension of time to file the referee's report. On April 10, 2003, this Court granted the request and extended the time to file the report until July 7, 2003. On April 16, 2003, the Referee issued an Order To Show Cause directing William Walent to appear and show cause why he should not be held in contempt for failure to respond to the subpoena. A hearing on the Order to Show Cause was scheduled for June 23, 2003, and the conclusion of the final hearing was scheduled for June 24, 2003. William Walent did not appear in the courtroom at the appointed time on June 23, 2003, for the hearing on the Order to Show Cause. Also, the appointed Referee, Judge Ramsberger, was unavailable to preside over the hearings scheduled for June 23 and 24, 2003. On June 30, 2003, Judge Logan, substituting for Judge Ramsberger, issued an Order continuing both hearings until August 7 and 8, 2003. Mr. Walent appeared before Judge Ramsberger on August 7, 2003, and promised he would appear at the final hearing the next day. The conclusion of the final hearing in this matter was held on August 8, 2003.

On August 26, 2003, the Referee issued his Report. The Referee adopted as his findings of fact, the facts set forth in the Bar's Complaint, and the Petition for Order to Show Cause, as amended. The Referee found that Respondent admitted to the allegations in Counts I, II, III, and IV of the Complaint, and that the Bar proved by clear and convincing evidence the allegations in Count V. The Referee also found that the Bar proved by clear and convincing evidence the allegations contained in the Petition for Order to Show Cause and Amendment thereto. (RR 2). The Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: Rule 4-1.1 (a lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client which requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation); Rule 4-1.3 (a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client); Rule 4-1.4(a) (a lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information); Rule 4-1.4(b) (a lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonable necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation); Rule 4-8.4(g) (a lawyer shall not fail to respond, in writing, to any official inquiry by bar counsel or a disciplinary agency, when bar counsel or the agency is conducting an

investigation into the lawyer's conduct); Rule 3-4.4 (criminal misconduct); Rule 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects); Rule 4-1.16(a)(1) (a lawyer shall not represent a client or where representation has commenced shall withdraw from the representation of a client if the representation will result in violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct); and Rule 3-5.1(g) (regarding notice of suspension by failing to notify clients and courts where listed as attorney of record). The Referee also found Respondent guilty of contempt for intentionally violating the terms of an order of suspension and by engaging in the practice of law while suspended.

As to disciplinary measures, the Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for two years, to run retroactive to July 3, 2002, the date of his 91-day suspension in Supreme Court Case No. SC01-1744, followed by two years of probation to ensure continuation and successful completion of substance abuse treatment and counseling along with random urinalysis. Probation was also to require that Respondent abide by the terms and conditions of his Florida Lawyer's Assistance, Inc., rehabilitation contract signed on April 3, 2003. (RR 3). The Referee's Report was considered by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its meeting which ended on October 3, 2003, at which time the Board voted to file a Petition for Review of the Referee's Report. The Board voted to petition for review of the Referee's recommendation that the Respondent be suspended for two years followed by two years of probation, and voted to seek disbarment. The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Referee's Report with this Court on November 3, 2003. Pursuant to Rule 3-7.7, the jurisdiction of this Court is invoked.

On October 16, 2003, the Referee amended his Report to delete any reference to a violation of Rule 4-1.1.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Referee adopted as his findings of fact all of the allegations in the Bar's Complaint (SC01-1298) and

Petition for Order to Show Cause, as amended (SC02-1118). (RR 1-2). The Bar's Complaint contains five counts

of misconduct. The Respondent admitted to Counts I, II, III, and IV. (RR 2). In Counts I and III, Respondent failed to act with diligence in handling client matters and failed to communicate with clients. In all five Counts, Respondent failed to respond to inquiries by the Bar and/or the Grievance Committee. As to Count V of the Complaint, alleging criminal misconduct, the Referee found that the Bar proved the allegations by clear and convincing evidence. The Referee also found that the Bar proved, by clear and convincing evidence, the allegations contained in the Petition for Order to Show Cause, as amended. The facts of the first four Counts of the Complaint are summarized as follows.

<u>Count I</u>: In July 1996, Ms. Vicki Kaster hired Respondent to represent her in a dissolution of marriage case. Respondent failed to attend a scheduled mediation, after instructing Ms. Kaster to arrive early so that he could discuss the case with her before the mediation. Respondent attended the final hearing, and a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage was entered on March 5, 1997. On March 7, 1997, Ms. Kaster called Respondent to ask why her requested name change was not included in the original paperwork. Respondent promised Ms. Kaster he would take care of the name change by filing a motion to amend. Between April and October of 1997, Ms. Kaster repeatedly contacted Respondent to follow up on the status of the name change. Respondent finally filed a Petition for Change of Name on October 21, 1997, and a hearing was set for mid-November 1997. Because Respondent did not properly prepare Ms. Kaster for the hearing, she was unable to provide satisfactory answers to the judge's questions and was unable to receive her name change that day. The Judgment for Change of Name was signed December 17, 1997. Ms. Kaster filed a Bar grievance against Respondent on March 4, 1998. Respondent failed to respond to two letters from the Bar asking him to respond to Ms. Kaster's complaint within 15 days, and failed to contact the grievance committee investigating member.

Count II: On March 22, 2000, The Florida Bar received an Inquiry/Complaint from James Cabler. Respondent failed to respond to two letters from the Bar asking him to respond to Mr. Cabler's complaint within 15 days, and failed to provide requested information to the grievance committee investigating member.

<u>Count III</u>: Respondent represented Jose Pizarro in a personal injury claim arising out of an automobile accident. On July 30, 1999, Mr. Pizarro's claim was settled with the defendant's insurance company, Safeco Property & Casualty Insurance Companies (Safeco), for \$9,000.00. On August 2, 1999, Jeffrey Smith, the claims

adjuster for Safeco, mailed a \$9,000.00 settlement check to Respondent, enclosing a Release and Indemnity Agreement to be signed by Mr. Pizarro and returned to Safeco. Respondent disbursed to Mr. Pizarro his portion of the settlement funds, however, he failed to provide Safeco with the signed release which was a condition of the settlement. Respondent failed to respond to Mr. Smith's repeated attempts to contact Respondent by telephone and by correspondence to obtain the executed release. Safeco's attorney, Michael Gabel, also made repeated attempts to contact Respondent in an effort to obtain the Release. Respondent failed to respond to Mr. Gabel's telephone calls, or to Mr. Gabel's letters dated June 26, 2000 and February 5, 2001. Respondent never provided Safeco with a release signed by his client. On March 23, 2001, Mr. Smith filed a grievance against Respondent with the Bar. Respondent failed to respond to two letters from the Bar requesting his response within 15 days to Mr. Smith's complaint.

<u>Count IV</u>: On May 11, 2001, The Florida Bar received an Inquiry/Complaint from Edgar F. Starr against Respondent. Respondent failed to respond within 15 days to the Bar's letter asking him to respond to Mr. Starr's complaint.

Count V and Petition for Order to Show Cause: (Because the factual basis for Count V is related to that of the Petition for Order to Show Cause, these cases will be discussed together.) On March 29, 2001, this Court issued an Order suspending Respondent from the practice of law for 60 days in Florida Bar v. James Manuel Heptner, Supreme Court Case Nos. SC00-920 and SC00-2570. (TFB Exh. 1). The effective date of Respondent's suspension was April 30, 2001. At the time Respondent was suspended, he was already ineligible to practice law due to his failure to comply with the Continuing Education Requirements (CLER) of The Florida Bar. On November 30, 2000, the Bar had sent Respondent a letter informing him that he was in noncompliance with CLER and was deemed a delinquent member of the Bar. The letter also informed Respondent that "a delinquent member shall not engage in the practice of law in this state" (TFB Exh. 2). Respondent did not correct his CLER delinquency until approximately June 28, 2001, two days before the end of his 60-day suspension. (TR1 47:23-25 to 48:1-4).

On April 12, 2001, the Bar sent Respondent a letter informing him that, pursuant to Rule 3-5.1(g), he was required to submit to the Bar an affidavit verifying that he had furnished a copy of the suspension order to his active

clients, to opposing counsel, and to all courts before which Respondent was counsel of record, within 30 days of receipt of the order. (TFB Exh. 3). The letter also informed Respondent of the need to "eliminate the appearance of being a lawyer in good standing," including the removal of his office signs.

Respondent failed to submit the affidavit required by Rule 3-5.1(g) within 30 days, and in fact, submitted it only **after** the Bar filed its Petition for Order to Show Cause. Throughout his suspension, Respondent remained listed as the attorney of record on more than 100 cases in the U. S. Bankruptcy Court for the Middle District of Florida, and did not notify the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court of his suspension. (TR1 30:6-16).

On May 2, 2001, a Florida Bar investigator visited Respondent's law office, and found him dressed in business attire standing outside his office door. Signs on the window and door indicated that the office was occupied by two attorneys, James M. Heptner and Joel E. Treuhaft. (TR1 19:3-10). When the investigator returned on May 21, 2001, the signs containing Respondent's name had been removed. (TR1 19:22-24). Respondent's telephone was answered by a machine with the following message: "Law Office of James Heptner. We are unable to take your call at this time Please leave a message." (TR1 24:18-20). During the period of his suspension, Respondent continued to represent William Walent, his client in a dissolution of marriage case. Respondent was scheduled to appear at a case management conference in Mr. Walent's case on May 14, 2001. (TFB Exh. 5). When neither Respondent nor his client appeared at the scheduled conference on May 14th, Judge Robert Foster dismissed the case. (TR1 56:11-15). On May 15, 2001, Respondent appeared at Judge Foster's chambers for the case management conference. Donna Julian, the Judicial Assistant, informed Respondent the conference had taken place the previous day. (TR1 70:14-18). Respondent indicated that he was representing Mr. Walent and did not inform either Ms. Julian or the Judge that he was suspended from the practice of law. (TR1 71:8-14).

On May 15, 2001, Respondent called Mr. Walent and told him that he (Respondent) had appeared at the case management conference on May 14, 2001, and had scheduled the case for final hearing in August. (TFB Exh. 8). Respondent did not inform Mr. Walent that he was suspended from the practice of law. (TR2 213:14-19). On May 22, 2001, Mr. Walent called Judge Foster's office to inquire about his trial date. (TR1 67:24-25). He told Ms. Julian that his attorney had appeared at the case management conference on May 14, 2001, and told him the

trial was set for August. Ms. Julian told Mr. Walent the case was not set for trial in August and had, in fact, been dismissed. Mr. Walent was very upset when he learned that his case had been dismissed. (TR1 68:2-12; 21-25).

On May 24, 2001, Respondent went back to Judge Foster's chambers to file an "Emergency Motion for Rehearing or to Reinstate Case" and a Notice of Hearing. (TFB Exh. 6 & 7). The signature block on both documents contained Respondent's name, address, and Florida Bar number, but the documents were signed by attorney Joel S. Truehaft, who shared office space with the Respondent. (TR1 141:17-25). Again, Respondent made no mention of his suspension to Judge Foster or Donna Julian. Judge Foster suspected that Respondent was suspended because he had seen Respondent's name on a list of disciplinary actions sent by the Bar each month to all judges in the State. Judge Foster confirmed the information by having his Judicial Assistant call the Bar. (TR1 60:18 to 61:14). After receiving the phone call from Mr. Walent and the emergency motion filed by Respondent, it appeared to Judge Foster that Respondent was representing Mr. Walent while suspended. (TR1 61:23 to 62:1-9). Judge Foster, on his own motion, set aside the Order of Dismissal and reinstated the Walent case. (TR1 57:7-15;

TFB Exh. 8). Respondent remained the attorney of record in the <u>Walent</u> case until January 11, 2002, when Joel Truehaft was substituted as counsel. (TR1 73:1-10).

On June 13, 2001, the Bar filed a Petition for Order to Show Cause, petitioning this Court for entry of an order compelling Respondent to show cause why he should not be disbarred for practicing law while under an Order of Suspension. On June 28, 2001, Respondent submitted to the Bar the Affidavit required by Rule 3-5.1(g), attesting that he had furnished a copy of the suspension order to all of his clients, and attaching a list of their names and addresses. (TFB Exh. 4). The list did not include the names of at least three clients, including William Walent, Danny Nova, and Lisandra Rios.

At the time the initial Petition for Order To Show Cause was filed, the Bar was not aware that Respondent continued to represent another client (other than Mr. Walent) during his suspension. Respondent represented Daniel Nova Rosario (Danny Nova) in a dissolution of marriage case beginning in mid-2000. (TR1 119:14-16; 121:12-16). Mr. Nova, who was a large scale drug dealer, compensated Respondent for legal services by supplying him with cocaine. (TR1 120:10-19; 122:17-22). Mr. Nova also referred his girlfriend, Lisandra Rios, to

Respondent, to handle her divorce. Mr. Nova paid Respondent \$273.00 for Ms. Rios' court costs and agreed to cover the rest of the fee by supplying Respondent with cocaine. (TR1 87:5-7; 122:12-18). In addition to receiving cocaine in exchange for legal services, Respondent also purchased cocaine from Mr. Nova on a regular basis. (TR1 97:14-17). Respondent continued to represent Mr. Nova while he was suspended and never informed Mr. Nova of the suspension. (TR1 123:3-11).

In 2001, Mr. Nova became the target of a drug trafficking investigation by the Tampa Police Department. (TR1 95:11-23). During the course of the investigation, the Tampa Police Department conducted a courtauthorized wire intercept of Danny Nova's telephone calls. The police intercepted two telephone calls from Respondent to Mr. Nova on May 30, 2001. During these calls, Respondent arranged to meet Mr. Nova to purchase cocaine. (TR1 96:13-25 to 97:1-3). On May 30, 2001, Respondent met with Mr. Nova outside the auto dealership where Mr. Nova worked and purchased an "eight ball" (approximately 3.5 grams) of cocaine from him.

On June 1, 2001, Danny Nova was arrested on drug charges involving distribution of heroin and cocaine, and became a cooperating defendant. (TR1 97:4-9). He advised the Tampa Police Department that Respondent was

representing him in divorce proceedings. Mr. Nova also stated that Respondent was a "customer" who purchased cocaine from him, usually in the quantity of an "eight ball" or an eighth of an ounce. (TR1 97:14-25).

After Danny Nova became a cooperating witness, he advised the police that he was scheduled to meet with Respondent on July 18, 2001, to discuss his divorce case. Mr. Nova agreed to wear an audio recording device during the July 18, 2001 meeting at Respondent's law office. (TR1 98:3-15). According to the transcript of the conversation recorded on July 18, 2001, Respondent asked Mr. Nova if he could get an "eight ball" of cocaine for that night. Mr. Nova told Respondent he did not have any cocaine at that time, but would check and call Respondent back. Respondent promised Mr. Nova he would prepare the documents necessary to finalize Mr. Nova's divorce. (TFB Exh. 10).

On August 6, 2001, the Tampa Police Department obtained a warrant for Respondent's arrest from Judge Gregory Holder. That same day, Respondent appeared before Judge Holder in a civil matter. The Judge called a recess and went into chambers to telephone the Tampa Police. Shortly thereafter, Respondent was arrested in the Judge's chambers on charges of Solicitation to Deliver Cocaine. (TR1 101:16-23). On August 21, 2001, the

Hillsborough County State Attorney's office filed an information charging Respondent with Solicitation to Deliver Cocaine, a third degree felony. (Exh. "N" to Complaint).

On August 7, 2001, the Bar filed a Motion to Amend Petition for Order to Show Cause which was granted by this Court on September 28, 2001. On October 18, 2001, the Bar filed its Amendment to supplement the Petition for Order to Show Cause with information concerning Respondent's solicitation of cocaine from his client and subsequent arrest. On August 20, 2001, the Bar sent Respondent an inquiry letter enclosing the Tampa Police Department offense report relating to Respondent's arrest for solicitation of cocaine, and requested his response. Respondent failed to respond to the Bar's inquiry until November 6, 2001.

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