#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,		Case No.	SC01-1298 and
			SC02-1118
		TFB No.	1998-11,287(13C)
Complainant,			2000-11,485(13C)
			2001-11,428(13C)
VS.			2001-11,655(13C)
			2002-10,208(13C)
JAMES MANUEL HEPTNER			2001-11,791(13C)
Respondent.			
•			
	/		

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, JAMES MANUEL HEPTNER

JAMES MANUEL HEPTNER Pro Se FBN 382401 2715 Via Capri Suite #720 Clearwater, FL 33764 813-202-8800

## **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Referee herein considered the totality of the circumstances, including aggravating and mitigating factors, in determining the appropriate discipline for Heptner. While the Court has the ultimate authority to determine the appropriate sanction to be imposed it generally does not second guess the Referee where, as here, his decision is supported by the Standards and case law.

The Bar's recommendation of disbarment is not warranted here since it is typically only imposed in cases of drug trafficking, theft and/or misappropriation, adjudications of certain felonies, perjury or other subversions of the judicial process in the absence of mitigating circumstances.

The Court has historically favored a policy of reformation and rehabilitation over the ultimate sanction of disbarment. Respondents involvement of a drug dealing client in his drug misconduct and his prior disciplinary history, are aggravating factors not automatic disbarment triggers.

While drug impairment does not excuse Heptner's misconduct it does help to explain his mental state particularly when this conduct all took place during a time period when both he and rehabilitation experts state his cocaine use was out of control.

It is significant that Heptner recognized his problem and stopped practicing law to voluntarily commence an extensive and ongoing rehabilitation to include five months of F.L.A. sponsored residential rehabilitation, a year long DACCO aftercare program and that he is continuing rehabilitation under a F.L.A. contract. It is undisputed that he has been verifiably drug free for over two years.

Other than his criminal arrest for trying to buy drugs for his habit his misconduct was primarily neglectful and fortunately did not result in any legal prejudice to his clients or the courts. His criminal charges have been dismissed.

He similarly was neglectful in complying with this Courts previous suspension order as consequence of his impairment. He was dilatory in meeting certain requirements of that Order but sought to comply with it. In addition the Referee found Heptner improperly asked another attorney to take steps to avoid prejudicing a client whose case was dismissed during his suspension. However, the Referee found Heptner's actions were not selfish or profit seeking.

Heptner was previously disciplined 13 years ago (a private reprimand in 1990) and 10 years ago (a public reprimand and 18 months probation in 1994). He was suspended for 60 days in 2001 in a third disciplinary event. This

Referee took Heptner's disciplinary history into account in his present recommended discipline to this Court.

Mr. Heptner is remorseful and of otherwise good character and reputation. He has received substantial punishment and will continue to receive it under the recommended discipline. The reinstatement process will further demonstrate he is reformed and rehabilitated. The Court should therefore affirm the Referees decision in this matter.

VI.

THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE REFEREE'S

DETERMINATION THAT DISBARMENT IS NOT WARRANTED

FOR A PREVIOUS DRUG DEPENDENT ATTORNEY, OF

OTHERWISE GOOD CHARACTER AND REPUTATION, WHO IS

REMORSEFUL AND WHO IS MAKING LONG TERM CONTINUOUS

EFFORTS TO REHABILITATE THE DRUG PROBLEM WHICH

IMPAIRED HIS JUDGMENT AND CAUSED HIM TO BOTH

NEGLECT SOME LEGAL MATTERS (WHICH DID NOT

SUBSTANTIALY PREJUDICE ANY OF HIS CLIENTS) AND FAIL TO

FULLY COMPLY WITH THE COURTS PREVIOUS SUSPENSION

ORDER.

The Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions describe the various types of discipline that the Court may impose on an attorney who is guilty of misconduct (Rule 3-5.1). Basically, the degree of punishment in each case depends on the particular factual situation presented by the particular case at hand, i.e. the totality of the circumstances. In imposing a sanction after a finding of lawyer misconduct, a court should consider the following factors: (a) the duty violated; (b) the lawyer's mental state; (c) the potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and (d) the existence of aggravating or mitigating factors. Florida Standard for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 3.0.

The Court has also set forth caselaw guidelines in imposing discipline. First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. Florida Bar v. Cibula, 725 So.2d 360, 363 (Fla.1998), (quoting Florida Bar v. Reed, 644 So.2d 1355, 1357 (Fla. 1994), Florida Bar v. Wasserman, 654 So. 2d 905, 907 (Fla. 1995).

While the Supreme Court has the ultimate power to determine the appropriate sanction, Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So. 2d 285, (Fla. 1987), generally speaking it will not second guess the referees recommended discipline as long as it has a reasonable basis in existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Florida Bar v. McFall, 2003 WL 22799198, (Fla. 2003); Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So. 2d 555, 558 (Fla. 1999); Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249, 1254 (Fla. 1999); Florida Bar v. Miller, 2003 WL 22250387, (Fla. 2003). The Court has stated in Florida Bar v. Leczner, 690 So. 2d 1284, (Fla. 1997), at 1287 and 1288 that;

"The referee, as finder of fact in Bar disciplinary proceedings, is in a unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses and appraise the circumstances of surrounding alleged violations. As to discipline, we note that the referee in a Bar proceeding again favored vantage point occupies for assessing considerations—such as a respondent's degree of culpability and his her cooperation, forthrightness, remorse, and rehabilitation. Accordingly, we will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing caselaw."

Numerous cases also provide, "Therefore the referees disciplinary recommendation is presumptively correct and will be followed unless clearly off the mark." Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So. 2d at 507; Florida Bar v. Vining, 707 So. 2d 670, 673, (Fla. 1998); Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249, 1254 (Fla. 1999).

There is nothing in the record to suggest the Referee in Heptner did not consider both the Standards and case law guidelines in determining his recommended discipline for Heptner. The Referee's report recognized Heptner was remorseful and of good character and that Heptner acknowledged his drug problem had led to the issues before the referee in this Complaint, the Order to Show Cause which was consolidated with this Complaint and the unopposed simultaneously pending initial Complaint which the Bar chose not to consolidate with this one. The Referee in his report recognized Heptner was having personal or emotional problems and was operating under an impairment during those events as corroborated by unrebutted expert testimony. (R. Exh.1;TR1-75 thru 82;all). The Referee found Heptner neglectful, not incompetent, by specifically amending his report on October 16, 2003 to delete any reference to Rule 4-1.1 (Competency) violations in his report. The Referee recognized Heptner had voluntarily undertaken extensive interim rehabilitation sponsored by F.L.A. including a five month residential rehabilitation, an F.L.A. monitoring contract with continued meetings

and counseling and graduating from a year-long extensive DACCO drug rehabilitation program. (TR1-174;1-4). He recognized Heptner had voluntarily stopped practicing law in September of 2001 and had turned his practice over to other attorneys with no resulting prejudice or complaints by his clients. The criminal charges against Heptner were dismissed in recognition of these efforts (TR1-166;1-3). The prejudice to Heptner's clients and the Courts in these matters were, fortunately minimal. The Referee found Heptner did not act selfishly or dishonestly in these matters (RR-4). The referee did not find Heptner failed to cooperate or assist the Bar in the discovery or resolution of these matters despite his untimely response to the Bar's initial investigation letters of them. Heptner was compliant with the Bar investigator (TR1-38;23-25).

Consequently, the Referee imposed a 91 day suspension to be followed by two years probation in April, 2002 in the unconsolidated initial Complaint which was resolved immediately prior to this case. That sentence was imposed to ensure Heptner did not recommence practicing law without demonstrating further rehabilitation through reinstatement. The Referee then scheduled this case for hearing and turned his attention to it.

In this case, after considering the totality of the circumstances, the Referee imposed a two year suspension retroactive to his initial suspension of Heptner to be followed by two years probation under an F.L.A. contract. That is a substantial

punishment depriving Heptner and his family of the benefits and income of his law practice. It is public and embarrassing and serves as a deterrent to others. At the same time it is not unduly harsh, it encourages reformation and rehabilitation and protects the public while not depriving it of a restored qualified attorney.

# VII. THE BAR'S CRITICISM OF THE REFEREE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE IN NOT RECOMMENDING DISBARMENT IN THIS CASE IS UNWARRANTED BY BOTH THE STANDARDS AND THE CASELAW.

Standard 9.0 provides generally; "After misconduct has been established aggravating and mitigating circumstances may be considered in determining what sanctions to impose."

Those mitigating and aggravating factors are then set forth in Standard 9.1, 9.2, 11.0 and 12.0 all of which were raised before the Referee. While the Bar cited Standard 5.11 (Criminal Acts) for the proposition that Heptner's disbarment is appropriate that standard, in fact, only provides for disbarment <u>absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances</u>. Additionally, Standard 12.0 specifically contemplates the involvement of a client in attorney drug cases and states it is an aggravating factor, not an automatic disbarment. Therefore the Bar's contention that Respondents

participation in drug rehabilitation should not be considered in mitigation where Respondent committed a felony drug offense involving a client is simply contrary to the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in drug cases. In fact, Standard 10.3, absent the aggravating factors that are present in the Heptner case, would only require Heptner to be suspended for 90 or 91 days.

The case law is in accord with the Standards. Numerous cases support suspension and rehabilitation, rather than disbarment, for attorneys who use drugs. Therefore the Bar's brief is also incorrect in stating, "The caselaw is in support of disbarment for criminal misconduct involving the purchase or sale of controlled substances." There is not a single reported case in Florida of an attorney being disbarred for personal drug use or purchasing drugs for personal use. The only discipline drug cases where attorneys have been disbarred involve drug trafficking or misappropriation of client funds. (See discussion in III below).

The Court in, <u>Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130, (Fla. 1970) at 131, when considering the disbarment of an attorney who, like Heptner, had nineteen years of experience and three children to support, said;

"Disbarment is the extreme measure of discipline and should be resorted to only in cases where the lawyer demonstrates an attitude or course of conduct wholly inconsistent with approved professional standards. It must be clear that he is one who should never be at the bar, otherwise suspension is preferable."

Disbarment has long been viewed as the ultimate sanction imposed in cases involving theft, subversion of the judicial process and adjudications of certain felonies such as drug trafficking in the absence of mitigating factors or extenuating circumstances. "Disbarment from practice of law is an extreme penalty and should be imposed only in those cases where rehabilitation is improbable." Florida Bar v. Davis, 379 So.2d 942 (Fla.1980). The Court also stated in Florida Bar v. Dawson, 111 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1959),

"We have come to regard disbarment as the most severe disciplinary prescription that can be imposed on a lawyer. The cases generally regard a judgment of disbarment as one reserved for the most infamous type of misprision and as justifiable in those instances where the possibility of the lawyer's rehabilitation and restoration to an ethical practice are the least likely.

"To sustain disbarment there must be a showing that the person charged should never be at the Bar. It should never be decried where punishment less severe, such as reprimand, temporary suspension or fine will accomplish the desired purpose." Florida Bar v. Blessing, 440 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1983).

On the other hand, numerous cases require that the discipline order offer the attorney a fair and reasonable opportunity for rehabilitation and that the discipline assessed against the attorney be corrective in nature. Florida Bar v. Mackenzie, 319 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1975); Florida Bar v. Thomson, 271 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1972); Florida Bar v. Ruskin, 126 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1961); Florida Bar v. Bass, 106 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1958); Florida Bar v. Murrell, 74 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1954).

VIII. DISBARMENT IS NOT WARRANTED FOR AN IMPAIRED

ATTORNEY WHO AGREED TO REPRESENT A LONG

STANDING DRUG DEALER, FROM WHOM HE BOUGHT USE

AMOUNTS OF COCAINE, IN A DIVORCE PROCEEDING

GIVEN HIS REHABILATION EFFORTS AND THE TOTALITY

OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

Daniel Nova was a long standing criminal drug dealer who had previously sold cocaine to Heptner for his personal use. (TR2-239;14-17). Heptner subsequently represented Nova in a single traffic ticket hearing for which he was paid. (TR2-239;1-13). Heptner also told Nova he would represent him in a divorce once he was retained to do and ultimately agreed to help Nova with his divorce. (TR2-239;18-23). Subsequent to that general agreement Nova came to Heptner's office, at law

enforcements bidding, wearing a body wire to engage Heptner in conversation about cocaine. (TR1-121;1-3;TR1-124;1-17). There Heptner asked Nova if he had any cocaine for sale.

Heptner concedes the gross impropriety of that conversation and that it shouldn't take place with anyone, much less someone he had agreed to represent and had represented in the past. His contention that his cocaine addiction impaired his judgment is supported by unrebutted expert testimony. (R Exh 1;TR1-75 thru 81;all). He fully cooperated with the Bar in this case, complied with all discovery, stipulated to the bulk of the alleged violations, expressed remorse and voluntarily sought and completed extensive rehabilitation. The criminal charges against him have been dismissed. Heptner vehemently denies Nova's contention that he paid him cocaine for legal services and the Referee found Nova's testimony to the contrary totally lacking any credibility. (TR1-136;18-24;TR1-139;1-1 thru 18).

The following are cases involving attorney's being disciplined for Rule violations where drug dependency/impairment is a case component. Numerous cases identify drug rehabilitation efforts as a substantial mitigator.

Florida Bar v. Temmer, 632 So. 2d 1359 (Fla. 1994) and 753 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1999), involved an attorney who began a romantic affair with her client in 1990, moved in with him a few months later and started using marijuana and crack cocaine with him. Ten months later he reported her drug use to the bar before reconciling

with her and attempting to withdraw his complaint. Temmer initially categorically denied his allegations but later consented to a finding of probable cause.

Temmer sought assistance from F.L.A. and a mental health counselor who found her problems, unlike Heptner's, were more personality/relationship than drug based. The Court did not find Temmer's initial general denial of the charges to warrant more severe sanctions than if she had not filed such a denial. The <u>Temmer</u> Court then imposed a ninety (90) day suspension with three years probation.

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